RECEIVED

Oct 01 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 21-ALJ-17-0143-CC
Appellate Case No. 2021-000886

Agua Pina, LLC d/b/a/ Hookah on the River.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Burnet R. Maybank, III
Andrew W. Saleeby
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
PHONE: 803.771.8900
FACSIMILE: 803.253.8277
bmaybank@nexsenpruet.com
asaleeby@nexsenpruet.com

Attorneys for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Administrative Law Court err in revoking the beer and wine and liquor by the drink licenses of Appellant Agua Pina, LLC d/b/a/ Hookah on the River (hereinafter, the “Appellant”)?
- II. Did the Administrative Law Court err by finding the Appellant met its burden of proof?
- III. Did the Administrative Law Court err by not following the Rules of Evidence presumption that when a party fails to produce evidence within its sole control, there is a presumption it is harmful to its case?
- IV. Did the Administrative Law Court abuse its discretion and commit an error of law by determining that revocation (rather than suspension or a monetary fine) was the proper penalty?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter originally came before the Administrative Law Court (the “ALC”) pursuant to a Motion for Emergency Suspension and Expedited Hearing (“Motion”) filed by the Department of Revenue (the “Department” or “DOR”) on May 13, 2021. R. p. _____. In its Motion, the Department moved to suspend Appellant’s permit and license until a hearing on the merits could be held in this matter. On May 13, 2021, the Department filed its Final Determination, in which it notified Appellant of its intent to revoke their on-premises beer and wine and restaurant liquor-by-the-drink license. R. p. _____. Following a conference call on the Motion, the ALC granted the Department’s request to suspend Appellant’s permit and license until the merits hearing. R. p. _____.

This matter subsequently came before the ALC pursuant to a request for injunctive relief filed by the Department in relation to their determination issued on May 13, 2021. In their Final Determination, the Department found that Appellant, who held an on-premises beer and wine permit and a business liquor-by-the-drink license, knowingly permitted acts that constitute a public nuisance, posed an imminent threat to public health, safety, or welfare, and lacked a reputation for peace and good order. As a result, the Department sought to permanently revoke Appellant’s permit and license pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 61-4-270 (2009) 61-4-580 (Supp. 2020), 61-6-1820 (2009), 61-6-1830(1) (2009), and 1-23-310 *et. seq.* (2005 & Supp. 2020).

The ALC held a hearing on June 9, 2021 and issued a Final Order filed June 28, 2021. The Final Order revoked Appellant’s on-premises beer and wine permits as well as its liquor-by-the-drink license. R. p. _____. Appellant subsequently filed a Motion to Reconsider on July 7, 2021. R. p. _____. The Appellant Department of Revenue filed a Response to the Motion to Reconsider on July 13, 2021. R. p. _____. The ALC entered an Order denying the Motion on July 22, 2021. R. p. _____. Appellant then filed a timely appeal with the Court of Appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act establishes the standard of review for the Court of Appeals for cases decided by the ALC and is set forth in § 1-23-610(B), which provides:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

(a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;

* * * * *

(d) affected by other error of law;

(e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In an appeal from the ALC, an appellate court may reverse or modify an ALC decision if an appellant's "substantive rights . . . have been prejudiced due to constitutional or statutory violations; an agency exceeding its authority; unlawful procedure; an error of law; a clearly erroneous view of the evidence in the record; or an abuse of discretion." *Murphy v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 396 S.C. 633, 639, 723 S.E. 2d 191, 194 (2012). "Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and [an appellate court] reviews questions of law *de novo*." *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 100, 622, S.E. 3d 40, 41 (2008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Final Order states:

Hookah on the River is located at 2700 Broad River Road, Suite B, Columbia, South Carolina. [Appellant]'s business is permitted/licensed to sell beer, wine, and liquor. Jack Oliver (Oliver), the owner of the business since April 2020, described Hookah on the River as primarily a

restaurant/lounge, yet it has a DJ and rents hookahs to its patrons. Hookah on the River is located in a strip mall next door to an event center, Exquisite Event Center, and across the street from Rush's, a fast-food restaurant, neither of which have a beer and wine permit or a liquor license.

Id. at ____ (footnote omitted); R. p. ____.

A. Background

Appellant is owned by Jack Oliver. His main business is Jack Oliver's Pool, Spa and Patio. Tr. p. 223, lines 7-9; R. p. _____. He got into the restaurant business in an effort to diversify his income given the limitations of his pool business. Tr. p. 223, line 20-p. 224, line 3; R. p. _____. His business model was to establish a restaurant, which sells food in a lounge-type atmosphere with a DJ primarily to African Americans. He sells food and alcohol, and also rents hookahs for smoking flavored blends of tobacco. Tr. p. 224, lines 6-12; R. p. _____.

The restaurant is located in a strip mall on Broad River Road in Columbia. Tr. p. 225, lines 6-12; R. p. _____. It is located literally next door to the Exquisite Event Center—the Event Center is Suite A and the Appellant is Suite B of the same building. Tr. p. 227, lines 9-20; R. p. _____. The two share a parking lot. Tr. p. 233, line 17-19; R. p. _____.

The establishments often were confused for one another and as a combined establishment, considering the Event Center did not have a sign in front of it until the landlord made the Event Center put one up, which happened just a couple of months before the ALC hearing. Tr. p. 227, line 23-p. 228, line 3; R. p. _____. The Sheriff's department was apparently not aware the Event Center was in business, as it had no ABL Licenses and on at least one occasion, the Sheriff's department thought a rap concert hosted by the Event Center which featured a national gang member was occurring at appellant's establishment. Tr. p. 232, line 24-p. 233, line 8; R. p. _____. The Event Center hosted at least 20 rap concerts there along with multiple private parties. Tr. p. 228, lines 9-12; R. p. _____.

The Event Center's internet advertisement was shown at trial for "Stripper Bowl" which had strippers performing on Super Bowl night. Tr. p. 230, lines 6-10; R. p. _____. Another advertisement was for free "Henny and Hookah" in which they gave away "free" Hennessy liquor. Tr. p. 230, lines 11-15; R. p. _____.

The rap concerts typically ended at 2:00 - 3:00 AM and after the concert ended, the rap concert crowd would pour into the mutual parking lot with some coming into Appellant's restaurant and some into the Rush's parking lot across the street. Tr. p. 234, lines 1-12; R. p. _____.

Oliver testified that he would text Captain Steven Tapler and Captain Coggins at the Sheriff's department and alert them to rap concerts. Tr. p. 254, lines 22-25; R. p. _____.

Because the rap concert crowds would pour into the joint parking lot Oliver testified they set up a barrier to separate his establishment from the Event Center in the parking lot. Tr. p. 313, lines 13-21; R. p. _____.

B. Security

Appellant's restaurant had extensive security, including eight video cameras, SLED certified guards at the entrance to the restaurant who used metal detector wands to check for guns, and bouncers inside the restaurant.

The Final Order notes:

Security at the Licensed Premises

In terms of security at the premises, Appellant has a total of eight cameras and hires SLED-certified armed security through SC Security Protection to protect the outside of the premises and control the entry of patrons into the business. Richard Higgins (Higgins), owner of SC Security Protection, explained he typically has two to six guys working at Appellant's location depending on the event. According to Oliver, all patrons are checked at the door for weapons using a wand and/or a pat down and then patrons are patted down again once inside the premises. Sullivan also testified security pats down every patron at least twice. Additionally, Appellant employs security to maintain order inside the premises who they refer to as "bouncers." These individuals are not employees of SC

Security Protection. Higgins hires former law enforcement and military as security guards. All of Higgins' employees are trained on how to correctly pat down a patron.

Id. at p. 2-3; R. p. _____. Of the eight security cameras, two are over the back door, four inside, and two over the front door. Tr. p. 241, lines 9-10; R. p. _____. Appellant hires 2-3 bouncers depending upon the night of the week. Both the security guards and bouncers are on guard from opening until closure. Tr. p. 244, lines 2-23; R. p. _____.

All the security guards are SLED-certified and all are prior military or law enforcement. The owner of the Company testified he personally trained them how to frisk, Tr. p. 341, line 23-p. 343, line 6; R. p. _____, and he had never had a gun slip through one of the establishments he guarded. Tr. p. 343, lines 7-11; R. p. _____.

C. Incidents

The Department's Motion is based upon the burden on law enforcement and two shootings. All sides agree on one shooting (May 2nd) which occurred across the street and the parties disagree on the second (May 8th).

The Final Order states:

Incidents at the Licensed Premises

Since October 23, 2020, Richland County Sheriff's Department has responded to calls at [Appellant]'s location over 100 times for increasingly violent incidents including assaults, weapon law violations, and shootings. In fact, as Sergeant Torres specifically explained, there have been 102 calls for service since January 2021 at [Appellant]'s location. These two incidents exemplify the escalating violence.

The first shooting incident occurred on May 2, 2021. On that date, shots were fired and law enforcement discovered eleven (11) 9mm shell casings in the parking lot of 2640 Bush River Road (Rush's restaurant) across from [Appellant]'s business where [Appellant]'s patrons sometimes park....

Investigator Short described the second incident that occurred on May 8, 2021, in which law enforcement responded to Prisma Richland Hospital in

reference to a shooting victim. Investigator Short interviewed the victim who alleged he was at [Appellant]’s premises when his friend was involved in an altercation and, as a result, the victim was shot in the stomach. Investigator Short testified the evidence establishes that the victim was shot inside [Appellant]’s business.

Id. at 3-4; R. p. ____.

1. May 2nd Shooting

The first shooting – which all sides agree to – occurred on May 2, 2021. The unrefuted testimony was that the shooting occurred when the next door rap concert ended. According to eyewitness accounts, some 200-300 people poured out of the rap concert and onto Appellant’s parking lot and the parking lot at Rush’s across the street. Appellant’s security guards dialed 911 as the crowd was completely out of control. Tr. p. 278, line 23-p. 280, line 4; R. p. ____.

The concert ended at 2:45 AM, which was shortly before the shooting. Tr. p. 314, lines 8-12; R. p. ____.

The crowds were so unruly that Appellant locked its door, denying entry to the crowd. Tr. p. 314, lines 22-23; R. p. ____.

Armed Security Guards stood in front of the door and denied entry. Tr. p. 315, lines 1-4; R. p. ____.

Appellant had erected barriers to prevent the rap club patrons from coming in. Tr. p. 315, lines 5-17; R. p. ____.

Appellant attempted to prevent the crowd from coming in, and perhaps as a response, a gang member was handed a pistol and shot the security guard. The shooter was apparently in the Rush’s parking lot across the street, which was where shell casings were found. Tr. p. 71, lines 16-22; R. p. ____.

The Final Order states that “it is unclear whether the shooter was a patron of Appellant.” *Id.* at 4; R. p. ____.

There was *no* testimony the shooter ever set foot in Appellant’s location. This does not make the record “unclear.”

The Final Order states “the shooter was never identified.” *Id.* The Appellant in fact identified the shooter, gave his name to the Sheriff’s Office, and further advised that he was singing at a rap concert two weeks later. One of the Appellant’s employees identified the shooter, a rap

singer who probably performed at the rap concert that just ended. Tr. p. 319, line 14-p. 320, line 3; R. p. _____. The day after the shooting, the Appellant's employees gathered and looked at the videos of the shooting. One employee identified the shooter and found his Facebook page. Jack Oliver then gave the shooter's name to the Richland County Sheriff's Department. Tr. p. 320, line 12-p. 321, Line 11; R. p. _____.

Incredibly, no one from the Sheriff's department interviewed any of the Appellant's staff or security guards regarding the shooting. Chris Sullivan who owned the Security Company also called the Sheriff's department and said they had identified the shooter but the Sheriff's department never responded. Tr. p. 321, lines 12-22; R. p. _____. The shooter continues to give rap concerts. Tr. p. 322, lines 6-8; R. p. _____. The shooter has apparently not been arrested and the Sheriff's Office never interviewed any of Appellant's witnesses.

Ms. Joanna Duffy, Deputy Chief and General, Counsel to the Richland County, Sheriff's Office testified:

Q. So, if --- if the shooting had nothing to do with the bar, you don't hold it – the bar responsible, do you?

A. No. I don't think you should.

Q. Right. Well, suppose, hypothetically, the shooter was at the rap concert, tried to get in the bar, we refused to let him into the bar, and he drew a gun and --- shot our security agent. What part of the facts do you blame on us?

A. So, based on those very limited facts, it – I mean, it would depend on, you know, what the interact was with security, how – how that interaction went, but if security did everything properly, then – then, no, I wouldn't think that you would hold that against somebody.

Tr. p. 209, line 9-p. 210, line 8; R. p. _____.

2. May 8th Shooting

The second incident occurred on May 8, 2021. The incident report stated that he was shot

at Appellant's location. Appellant's employee testified that a large Hookah (over two feet tall) fell off a table and made a large noise. This caused several people to leave. He testified he saw no evidence of a shooting. Tr. p. 324, lines 3-11; R. p. _____. The next day when they cleaned the club after the Sheriff's department had finished his investigation, they found no shell casings, bullet holes or blood. Tr. p. 325, lines 15-20; R. p. _____. The shooting allegedly occurred at 3:00AM and the supposed victim left at 3:05 AM. Tr. p. 326, lines 23-25; R. p. _____, yet the victim did not arrive at the hospital until 4:55 AM. Tr. p. 326, lines 20-22; R. p. _____.

The next morning the Sheriff's Office arrived with a subpoena and took the inside video and looked for blood, shell casings and bullet holes – none were found. Tr. p. 327, lines 4-25; R. p. _____. Deputy Short was asked: "Was there any other evidence that was recovered from the Restaurant? A. No." Tr. p. 29, lines 15-19; R. p. _____. He also was asked if the videos inside the club showed a shooting and he said "No." Tr. p. 37, lines 17-18; R. p. _____. Incidentally, none of the inside videos which the Sheriff's department took through a subpoena were shown at trial. Tr. p. 58, lines 5-25; R. p. _____. While no camera may have caught the actual alleged shooting, they certainly would have recorded an altercation if there was a shooting – and may have supported Appellant's contention that the altercation simply resulted from a heavy hookah falling to the floor. But none of these videos were shown at trial. The Sheriff's department did not question or interview any of Appellant's staff or security guards. Tr. p. 328, lines 20-23; R. p. _____.

The Department relies on outside video footage showing a man clutching his stomach after leaving. The video apparently showed him running into a large rubber cone while leaving the establishment. The video showed several people running but also showed several people calmly walking out of the club. To reiterate, despite this confusion, the Sheriff's department never interviewed any of the employees who were working that night.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED BY REVOKING APPELLANT'S BEER AND WINE AND LIQUOR-BY-THE-DRINK LICENSES.

A. General

Can a restaurant have its license revoked as a result of actions by third parties who are not patrons of the restaurant? John D. Geathers & Justin R. Werner, *The Regulation of Alcoholic Beverages*, (S.C. Bar 2007) discuss enforcement in Chapter 6. They note that revocation and suspension actions typically involve either (1) maintaining the integrity of the Alcohol Beverage Industry; or (2) provisions aimed at protecting public health welfare and morals. The latter provisions all involve violations of the sale of alcohol (e.g., sales to underage individuals, Sunday sales, sales to intoxicated persons, drinking games, games of chance). The treatise discusses “disorderly conduct” as follows:

It is generally recognized that an alcoholic beverage license may have his license suspended or revoked, or an administrative fine imposed upon him, for the conduct of his *patrons* in certain instances. Alcoholic beverage licensees have an affirmative duty to maintain their licensed premises in an orderly fashion, which includes a duty to supervise the *conduct of their patrons* in and around the premises; and, where a licensee fails to meet this responsibility such that his premises become disorderly or become a nuisance to the surrounding community, his license may be subject to suspension or revocation. However, this liability will typically only be found where the offending *conduct of the patrons* has occurred continuously or routinely such that the licensee can be held accountable for tolerating the conduct, and, thus, except in extraordinary circumstances, a liquor license will not be suspended or revoked for isolated incidents of disorderly conduct committed by *patrons* on the licensed premises.

Id. at pp. 290-91 (emphasis added). This section mentions “patrons” four times. There was no testimony that any of the violence which occurred on May 2nd was from patrons.

Footnote 246 of the treatise gives several representative cases:

See S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-580(5) (Supp. 2005) (providing that a retail beer and wine permit may be suspended or revoked if the permittee or its employees “permit any act, the commission of which tends to create a public nuisance or which constitutes a crime under the laws of this State); *see also*, *e.g.*, *Yu v. Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Bd.*, 4 Cal. Rptr. 2d 280, 286-287 (Ct. App. 1992) (noting that a “licensee is charged with preventing his premises from becoming a nuisance” and affirming the revocation of a convenience store’s beer and wine license because of numerous illegal drug transactions committed by the store’s patrons on or immediately outside of the licensed premises); *Benedetti v. Bd of Comm’rs*, 113 A.2d 44, 45-46 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1955) upholding the revocation of a tavern’s liquor license where the premises were frequently used by local prostitutes to solicit clients)...

Id. at 290. All of these cases involve actions by patrons. The Final Order states:

The Department contends the on-premises beer and wine permit and liquor-by-the-drink license for Hookah on the River should be revoked because: (1) Appellant’s business is permitting a public nuisance in violation of § 61-4-580(5); (2) the location is no longer suitable as defined in § 61-4-520 and § 61-6-910; (3) Appellant’s business constitutes an immediate threat to the public’s health, safety, and welfare pursuant to § 1-23-370(C), § 12-60-1340, § 61-6-1820(2), and § 61-6-1830; and (4) Appellant’s business has failed to maintain a reputation for peace and good order in its community in violation of § 61-6-1820.

Id. at 11; R. p. ____.

And who testified in favor of the revocation? Three officers from the Sheriff’s department testified but not in favor of revocation. Who did not testify? Liquor (ABL) regulation is done by the Department of Revenue with enforcement of liquor laws in the hands of SLED. “The investigation of administrative violations of the alcoholic beverage regulatory scheme ... is generally shared by SLED and the Department of Revenue, with SLED taking the lead on street-level law enforcement activity.” Geathers, *supra*, at p. 291.

Nobody from the Department or SLED testified in support of the revocation. SLED’s importance in ABL matters is explicit in South Carolina law. Section 61-4-590(A) states that “[t]he [Department of Revenue] has jurisdiction to revoke or suspend permits authorizing the sole of beer and wine.” However, the Department may not order suspension or revocation until after

SLED “*has conducted and completed an investigation.*” § 61-4-590(B) (emphasis added). No one from SLED testified at the hearing, much less testified that an investigation was done and it supported revocation. Significantly, not a single resident or nearby business owner/operator testified in support.

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