RECEIVED

Mar 02 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 21-ALJ-17-0143-CC
Appellate Case No. 2021-000886

South Carolina Department of Revenue..... Respondent,

v.

Agua Pina, LLC d/b/a Hookah on the River... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Patrick A. McCabe (Bar No. 81264)
Adam J. Neil (Bar No. 69594)
Jason P. Luther (Bar No. 78021)
South Carolina Department of Revenue
300 A Outlet Pointe Boulevard
Columbia, SC 29210
(803) 898.5056
Patrick.McCabe@dor.sc.gov
Attorneys for Respondent

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

Although the ALC's factual findings regarding Agua Pina are reviewed under the clear error standard, the ALC's decision to revoke Agua Pina's license and permit is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc., 417 S.C. 639, 663, 790 S.E.2d 792, 804 (Ct. App. 2016) (reviewing ALC's decision to revoke beer and wine permit under the abuse of discretion

standard); *see also* Sandalwood, 399 S.C. at 277; Midlands Utility, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 313 S.C. 210, 437 S.E.2d 120 (Ct. App. 1993) (penalties reviewed for an abuse of discretion.). The term abuse of discretion “[h]as no opprobrious implication and means nothing more or less than that the ruling of the trial court was without reasonable factual support, result[ing] in prejudice to the rights of the appellant, and therefore, in the circumstances, amounted to error of law.” Bridges v. Wyandotte Worsted Co. 239 S.C. 37, 39, 121 S.E.2d 300, 302, (1961). The record on appeal contains numerous facts that support the finding that Agua Pina violated § 61-4-580(A)(5).

Since January 2021, Richland County Sheriff’s Department has responded to over 100 calls at [Agua Pina’s] location for increasingly violent incidents to include assaults, weapon law violations, and shootings. Two of these incidents resulted in persons being shot: on May 2, 2021, law enforcement discovered a security guard from [Agua Pina] had been shot in the head, and on May 8, 2021, a patron was shot in the stomach inside [Agua Pina]. The incidents taking place at [Agua Pina] are violent, frequent, and incontrovertibly dangerous to the public because, although [Agua Pina] is privately owned, it is located in a shopping center, which is a place where the public is likely to gather and does gather.

* * *

[Agua Pina] is clearly aware, or ‘knows’ of the criminal activity occurring at its premises because it has discussed the issue with law enforcement and even admitted the crowd was chaotic during certain incidents.

* * *

Based on all the above, I find [Agua Pina] has knowingly permitted acts that constitute a public nuisance to take place at its establishment in violation of § 61-4-580(A)(5).

Final Order p. 13-16; (R. pp. 019-022).

Likewise, the record on appeal supports the finding that Agua Pina violated § 61-6-1820(2).

The evidence established that [Agua Pina] does not have a reputation for peace and good order in the community. Sergeant Torres’s and Corporal Hawkes’s testimony revealed [Agua Pina] business is a ‘problem’ location due to the large number of calls and crowds at its business. Again, the frequency and escalating severity of the incidents—over 100 calls for service since January— shows a pattern of criminal activity that frequently occur at the location.

* * *

[D]espite Oliver’s efforts to control the behavior of his patrons with armed security, security cameras, and pat downs, these security measures have been

ineffective and, in the case of pat downs, appear to have been poorly executed. Weapons have been found in the floorboards of ... establishment, [Agua Pina] also failed to report to law enforcement that a shooting occurred inside it premises on May 8, 2021.

Proper management also appears to be absent ... creating more opportunity for incidents to escalate rather than being dealt with appropriately. Often, the manager was not present during the incidents reported by law enforcement. This kind of management is particularly concerning considering the frequency and type of criminal incidents that have taken place at the location. And, when law enforcement interacts with [Agua Pina] staff, not only is management usually absent, but ... [Agua Pina's] staff and patrons are hostile to law enforcement.

* * *

Based upon the above reasons, and because I find [Agua Pina] is knowingly permitting a public nuisance (and a nuisance, by its very definition, is not compatible with peace and good order), I conclude [Agua Pina] does not have "a reputation for peace and good order in the community" in violation of § 61-6-1820(2).

Final Order p. 17-18; (R. pp. 023-024).

Additionally, the Court of Appeals has previously held that revocation of a permit or license is *not* an abuse of discretion if revocation is "within the range of penalties authorized by section 61-4-580 and was the penalty prescribed by the Department in Revenue Procedure 13-2." Meenaxi at 804–805, 790 S.E.2d at 663–664 ("[It] is the ALC's prerogative to impose the appropriate penalty based upon the facts presented."). The Mennaxi Court also held that the ALC declining to reduce a revocation to a suspension or fine was not abuse of discretion, so long as there was evidence to justify the decision. *Id.*

In this case, it was completely within the ALC's prerogative to impose revocation based upon the substantial evidence presented at trial, as revocation falls within the range of penalties set out by statute and department procedure. *See* § 61-4-580(B); 61-6-1830; South Carolina Revenue Procedure # 13-2. Furthermore, the ALC justified its decision to impose revocation specifically because of "[t]he numerous calls for law enforcement combined with escalating violence as reflected, in part, by two

shootings...” Order On Recons., p.13; (R. p. 038). Therefore, the ALC’s decision to revoke Agua Pina’s permit and license is not an abuse of discretion.

III. The ALC did not err when it declined to make an adverse inference against the Department simply because it chose not to enter cumulative evidence at trial.

Agua Pina argues the Department “failed to introduce into evidence” at trial, specifically incident reports (authored by the Sheriff’s Department) concerning criminal activity in and around Agua Pina. *See* Appellant’s Br. at 27. Because those incident reports were not admitted into evidence,⁹ Agua Pina contends the ALC should have made an adverse inference that those reports were harmful to the Department’s case, and that the ALC’s failure to do so was error. *Id.*

This argument fails from the start because there were no missing incident reports. Agua Pina’s brief incorrectly claims that 95 incident reports were not entered as evidence. The ALC noted that “[Agua Pina] incorrectly interchanges the phrase ‘calls for service’ for ‘incident reports’.” Order On Recons., 6 n. 3; (R. p. 031 f. 3) The witness from the Sheriff’s Department testified that “I know that 102 times we’ve responded to your business for calls for service.” Hr’g. Tr. p. 88, l. 6; (R. p. 231, l. 6). The Sheriff Department records of the calls for service were not entered into evidence, despite being available to Agua Pina.

The Court should reject Agua Pina’s argument for at least two reasons. First, Agua Pina has failed to demonstrate the elements necessary to create an adverse inference under South Carolina law.¹⁰ Second, even if the ALC erred in failing to draw an adverse inference, such error was harmless

⁹ Witnesses from the Sheriff’s Department testified to the content of those reports without objection. Order On Recons., p.8 n. 4 (R. p. 033, f. 4).

¹⁰ Agua Pina’s “argument” on this issue consists primarily of wondering aloud about what might have been contained in the unintroduced incident reports. The brief makes no effort to demonstrate that the elements of *Davis* are met; instead, Agua Pina simply proclaims: “The documents were not introduced. Why? Because they must be bad!” This sort of speculative rumination is nothing more than a regurgitation of the same unfounded doubt-casting contained in Agua Pina’s Motion for Reconsideration, which the ALC correctly characterized as incredible “suppositions and unsupported hypotheticals.” *See* Order on Recons., 8 (R. p. 033).

and does warrant reversal because Agua Pina could have introduced those records itself— and chose not to— and the record contains substantial evidence supporting the ALC’s decision.

A. Agua Pina failed to establish the elements necessary for the ALC to make an adverse inference based on unadmitted evidence.

“Generally, in the absence of explanation, the failure to produce evidence may create an adverse inference.” *See* TRIAL HANDBOOK FOR SOUTH CAROLINA LAWYERS § 14:10 (5th ed.) (citing Davis v. Sparks, 235 S.C. 326, 111 S.E.2d 545 (1959)). As Agua Pina correctly notes in its brief, the seminal South Carolina case dealing with the adverse inference doctrine is Davis. *See* Appellant Br. at 27. In Davis, the Supreme Court identified the elements necessary to establish an adverse inference: (1) the absence of an explanation, (2) the failure or refusal of a party to produce evidence, (3) the evidence is within the party’s knowledge and power to produce, (4) the evidence is not equally accessible to his opponent, (5) the evidence is such as he would naturally produce if it were favorable to him, and (6) under all the circumstances of the case, failure to produce the evidence creates a suspicion of a willful attempt to withhold competent testimony. Id. at 326, 111 S.E.2d at 545. None of these elements are met in this case.

First, the explanation for why the calls for service were not entered into evidence is quite simple. The Department believed the events that resulted in the generation of incident reports was sufficient to establish that Agua Pina was knowingly creating a nuisance and no longer had the reputation for peace and good order. The Department had no intention of discussing the 102 calls for service as it felt this testimony would have been cumulative. The testimony regarding the 102 calls for service was elicited during Agua Pina’s cross-exam of a witness.

Second, the Department did not fail or refuse to produce the evidence. The Department simply made a strategic decision not to introduce cumulative evidence where law enforcement had already testified about the incidents. *See* Davis, 235 S.C. at 334, 111 S.E.2d at 549 (noting a litigant need not produce as a witness every person who may give evidence in his favor.).

Third, the records concerning the calls for service were authored by the Sheriff's Department, not the Department, and were not within the Department's exclusive knowledge and power to produce. The South Carolina Supreme Court requires the missing witness to be an agent or employee, or be subject to the control of the party.

[T]he rule is applied when the uncalled witness is an agent, employee, relation or associate of the party failing to call him or within some degree of control of said party. 'It is a general rule that a party is not to be prejudiced by his failure to call a witness who is equally available to the other party.'

Id. at 333 (internal citations omitted).

Here, the call for service in dispute were authored by and remained in the sole custody of the Sheriff's Department, not the Department. Therefore, it would be an error of law to impose a negative inference against the Department.

Fourth, as the ALC found, the documents that were not presented were equally accessible to Agua Pina.

The incident records were available to be subpoenaed, and it appears that they were subpoenaed by [Agua Pina]. At the hearing, [Agua Pina] indicated that they did not receive the reports for the [Agua Pina's] business testified to by Sergeant Torres, but when Sergeant Torres offered them to the [Agua Pina] during the hearing, [Agua Pina's] counsel stated they 'certainly would' want them but then continued to question Sergeant Torres and never followed up on the reports. Interestingly, [Agua Pina] admits... that these other reports were present and available in the courtroom, but [Agua Pina] did not elicit testimony about these reports although they were available.

Order Denying Mot for Recons., p.7 (R. p. 032).

Agua Pina's counsel did not serve discovery requests on the Department and did not subpoena the incident reports from the Sheriff's Department; rather, Agua Pina's subpoena to the Sheriff's Department only requested records regarding crimes that occurred at *other* alcohol establishments.

Fifth, the Department was confident that the evidence presented by the Department was sufficient to establish that Agua Pina was knowingly permitting acts that tend to create a public

nuisance and that it lacked the reputation for peace and good order. Introducing that evidence would have been cumulative in light of the witness testimony.

Sixth, Agua Pina can point to no evidence in the record that there was a willful attempt to withhold competent testimony, which is required before the court can impose a negative inference.

Inference from the unexplained failure of a party to call an available witness that the testimony of such witness would have been unfavorable may be drawn only where, under all the circumstances of the case, the failure to produce such witness creates a suspicion of a willful attempt to withhold competent testimony.

Id. at 334, 111 S.E.2d at 549.

The ALC also found “no credible evidence to make this Court suspicious of the Department’s failure to introduce the evidence of the other ninety-five calls for service.” Order On Recons., p. 7; (R. p. 032).¹¹

None of the authority cited by Agua Pina supports its argument that the ALC’s failure to impose an adverse inference was an error of law.

The substantial evidence found in the record on appeal indicates the incident reports were not under the exclusive control of the Department, the incident reports were available to Agua Pina, and there was no evidence that the Department was attempting to suppress the truth. Therefore, the ALC’s decision to not impose a negative inference against the Department was not an error of law.

- B. Even if the ALC should have made an adverse inference concerning the incident reports, its failure to do so was harmless error.

¹¹ Agua Pina also cites three other cases as support for this argument. Willcox, Ives & Co. v. Jeffcoat, 135 S.C. 149, 133 S.E. 463 (1926); Gathers By & Through Hutchinson v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co., 311 S.C. 81, 427 S.E.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1993); and, Kershaw Cty. Bd. of Educ. v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 302 S.C. 390, 396 S.E.2d 369 (1990). However, the holding in Gathers and Kershaw County are inapposite to this case because they hold that a negative inference is only proper when there is proof the evidence requested was lost or destroyed; a fact not present here. Furthermore, Willcox was explicitly overruled in 1973 by Baker v. Port City Steel Erectors, Inc., 261 S.C. 469, 200 S.E.2d 681, which held the fact the unfavorable inference may be drawn does not require that the jury to draw it.

Rule 61 of South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure describes harmless error and requires the court “at every stage of the proceeding” “to disregard any error of defect which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.” *See also Wells v. Halyard*, 341 S.C. 234, 533 S.E. 2d 341 (Ct. App. 2000) (An alleged error is harmless if the alleged error did not contribute to the verdict).

Even if the ALC erred by not insisting on an adverse inference against the Department, that error was harmless. The imposition of an adverse inference for failing to introduce every incident report could never refute the first-hand accounts and video evidence demonstrating violent and criminal activity was routinely occurring at Agua Pina. Therefore, the error, if one in fact occurred, was harmless and did not contribute to the finding that Agua Pina’s permit and license should be revoked.